FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
7/8/2021 12:13 PM
No. 37019-4-III

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/8/2021 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

99959-7

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

JOSEPH ZAMORA, Petitioner

# APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF GRANT COUNTY

THE HONORABLE JUDGE JOHN M. ANTOSZ

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Marie J. Trombley, WSBA 41410 Attorney for J. Zamora PO Box 829 Graham, WA 253-445-7920

####

I.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER
II.	COURT OF APPEALS DECISION1
III.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW1
	A. Did The State Violate Defendant's Right To An Impartial
	Jury By Beginning Voir Dire and Repeatedly Asking The Panel
	Their Views on Border Security And Fears of Becoming Crime
	Victims By Undocumented Immigrants1
	B. As a matter of first impression, was Mr. Zamora's
	constitutional right to present a full and complete defense violated
	where the trial court denied him the opportunity to cross examine
	police witnesses on the circumstances of their Garrity statements?1
	C. As a matter of first impression, in the circumstance where a
	defendant is seized by an unconstitutional act by law enforcement,
	and brutally beaten by officers, entitling him to a defense of self-
	defense, must evidence of the defendant's alleged assault of
	officers be suppressed?1
	D. Was Mr. Zamora's right to effective assistance of counsel
	violated where counsel did not object to the State's motion to

	preclude all evidence of prior violent confrontations in which the
	officer involved in his beating was involved?2
IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE2
V.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 10
	A. The State Violated Mr. Zamora's Constitutional Right To An
	Impartial Jury Requiring Reversal
	B. As A Matter Of First Impression, Mr. Zamora's Constitutional
	Right To Present A Full And Complete Defense Was Violated
	Where The Trial Court Denied Him The Opportunity To Cross
	Examine Police Witnesses On The Circumstances Of Their Garrity
	Statements
	C. As A Matter Of First Impression, Where A Defendant Is
	Seized By An Unconstitutional Act By Law Enforcement, And
	Brutally Beaten By Officers, Entitling Him To A Defense Of Self-
	Defense, Evidence Of The Defendant's Alleged Assault Of
	Officers Must Be Suppressed As Fruit Of The Poisonous Tree 15
	D. Mr. Zamora Received Ineffective Assistance of Counsel
	Where Counsel Did Not Object To The State's Motion To
	Preclude All Evidence Of Prior Violent Confrontations In Which
	The Officers Involved In His Beating Were Involved

VI.	CONCLUSION	20
-----	------------	----

#### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

#### Washington Cases

Cowles Pub. Co. v. State Patrol, 109 Wn.2d 712, 748 P.2d 597 (1988) 14
In re Gentry, 170 Wn.2d 614, 316 P3d 1020 (2014)
In re Pers.Restraint of Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d 696, 286 P.3d 673 (2012) 11
Seattle Police Officer's Guild v. City of Seattle, 80 Wn.2d 307, 494 P.2d 485 (490-91 (1972)
State v. Aydelotte, 35 Wn.App. 125, 665 P.2d 443 (1983)
State v. Barber, 118 Wn.2d 335, 823 P.2d 1068 (1992) 10
State v. Clark, 143 Wn.2d 731,24 P.3d 1006 (2001)
State v. Cormier, 100 Wn.App. 457, 997 P.2d 950 (2000)
State v. Darden,145 Wn.2d 612, 41 P.3d 1189 (2002)
State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 230 P.3d 576 (2010)
State v. Lile, 188 Wn.2d 766,309 P.3d 1052 (2017)
State v. Loughbom, 196 Wn.2d 64, 470 P.3d 499 (2020)
State v. McKinley, 87 Wn.App. 394, 942 P.2d 999 (1997)
State v. Mierz, 127 Wn.2d 460, 901 P.2d 286 (1995)
State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667,257 P.3d 551 (2011)

State v. Orn, 197 Wn.2d 343, 482 P.3d 913 (2021)
State v. York, 28 Wn.App. 33, 621 P.2d 784 (1980)
<u>Federal Authorities</u>
Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 94 S.Ct. 1105, 39 L.Ed.2d 347 (1974) 14
Garrity v. New Jersey, 385 U.S. 493, 87 S.Ct. 616, 17 L.Ed.2d 562 (1967).
Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471, 83 S.Ct. 407, 9 L.Ed.2d 441 (1963)
<u>Constitutional Provisions</u>
Article 1, §22
U.S. Const. Amend. VI
<u>Court Rules</u>
ER 608(b)
RAP 2.5(a)

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Joseph Zamora, the appellant below, asks the Court to review the decision of Division III of the Court of Appeals referred to in Section III below.

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Joseph Zamora seeks review of the Court of Appeals unpublished opinion entered on June 8, 2021. A copy of the opinion is attached.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Where the prosecutor begins voir dire and repeatedly asks the prospective panel about border security and their fears of becoming crime victims by undocumented immigrants in the trial of a defendant with a Hispanic surname, has the state violated the defendant's right to an impartial jury?
- B. As a matter of first impression, was Mr. Zamora's constitutional right to present a full and complete defense violated where the trial court denied him the opportunity to cross examine police witnesses on the circumstances of their *Garrity* statements?
- C. As a matter of first impression, in the circumstance where a defendant is seized by an unconstitutional act by law enforcement, and brutally beaten by officers, entitling him to a defense of self-defense, must evidence of the defendant's alleged assault of officers be suppressed?

D. Was Mr. Zamora's right to effective assistance of counsel violated where counsel did not object to the State's motion to preclude all evidence of prior violent confrontations in which the officer involved in his beating was involved?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Grant County prosecutors charged Joseph Zamora with two counts of assault in the third degree, based on events which occurred on Super Bowl Sunday evening 2017. CP 1-2. He walked by way of a vacant lot on the way to his niece's home. RP 287, 736. A neighbor noticed him trudging through a foot of snow. RP 326, 744. As he walked by parked cars she shouted that the lot was private property and he needed to leave. She never saw him look into, touch, or press up against cars. RP 289-90, 308. He continued shuffling down the street. RP 301-302. She called 911 anyway, to report "a suspicious person in our neighborhood...possibly car prowling." RP 302.

Kevin Hake<sup>1</sup> responded to the call, arriving within 30 seconds. RP 313-14,317. He shined his flashlight at Mr. Zamora, who was about 20 feet away, in the yard of his niece's home. He yelled, "Hey I need to talk to you, come on over." RP 320, 450. Mr. Zamora returned and stopped

2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> At the time of the incident, Officer Hake worked for the Moses Lake Police Department. He left their employment four months after the incident. At the time of trial he no longer worked in law enforcement and was introduced as Mr. Hake rather than Officer Hake. RP 311-12.

about six or seven feet from him, his left hand in his pocket with the thumb hooked outside of it. RP 320,455. Hake guessed Mr. Zamora may have had drugs in the pocket. RP 322.

Hake started a social encounter, asking for id, where he was going, and where he came from. RP 454, 503. Mr. Zamora remained silent and did not move. RP 451. Aware that Mr. Zamora did not have to answer his questions, Hake nevertheless made a call out over his radio, saying, "I've got one resisting." RP 499, 503. Hake testified Zamora was "aggressive" by passively resisting interaction with him. RP 323-24, 504-05, 548-49. Hake testified he was in fear for his life. RP 548.

Mr. Zamora turned to walk away. Hake stuck his arm out, told him to stop, he was not free to leave. Hake said he was checking "for looking in vehicles." RP 455, 551. Mr. Zamora stopped and then turned away from Hake. Even though Mr. Zamora was turned away, Hake thought Mr. Zamora put his hand fully in his pocket. RP 455.

Hake told Mr. Zamora he was *not* under arrest, and then he grabbed him from behind: "I hooked both of his arms...around his elbows and pulled him...into my person, and that's when the struggle started..."

RP 326. Hake knew the pressure on Mr. Zamora's elbows would be painful. RP 460. Mr. Zamora leaned with Hake's pull and bowed his shoulders. RP 458-59. As Mr. Zamora tried to turn away, Hake attempted

to do a leg sweep to take him to the ground. RP 462. Over the mic another officer heard Hake say, "Put your hands behind your back, I'll fucking kill you, put your hands behind your back." RP 644.

Hake immediately shoved Mr. Zamora as hard as he could, sending Mr. Zamora backward six or seven feet. RP 464-65. Mr. Zamora fell, and hit his head on a truck bumper. RP 465, 467. Hake "jumped on top of him and grabbed him by the left wrist with both hands." RP 344-45. They both slid under the truck. RP 344.

Hake initially testified Mr. Zamora tried to strangle him with his lapel mic cord, and he punched Mr. Zamora twice in the face. RP 469, 472. He later admitted he felt no constriction and the loop was never around his neck. RP 472. Mr. Zamora did not swing his fists or try to punch. RP 472. Hake grabbed him from under the truck, wrestled his way on top of him, and used a chokehold on Mr. Zamora. RP 472-73. He heard him gasp and then no sound. He believed deadly force was authorized. RP 548.

As he straddled Mr. Zamora, Hake felt him grab at his utility belt and holstered gun. He said he moved Mr. Zamora's hands away from the gun three times. RP 474. He admitted that were Mr. Zamora trying to get out from underneath him he would have used the belt as leverage. RP 479-80.

The beating continued, with Hake shooting pepper spray into Mr. Zamora's mouth and face, and punching Mr. Zamora between 75 and 120 times on the face, eyes, ears, nose and rib cage. RP 368, 506-07, 515. Mr. Zamora bucked to get free and would not allow himself to be handcuffed. RP 492-93. He reportedly hit Hake in the shoulder and torso area. RP 506.

Hake stuck his gun in Mr. Zamora's ear and eye. RP 369. When Mr. Zamora bit down on the barrel, Hake shoved the gun down his throat as far as possible. He kept the gun on Mr. Zamora until another officer arrived. RP 370, 514. He then punched Mr. Zamora as hard as he could another 12-20 times. RP 375. Backup officers arrived within minutes. They tased<sup>2</sup> Mr. Zamora simultaneously and repeatedly. They pepper sprayed him, punched him in the head, used knee strikes, and kicked him. RP 526, 630-31, 653, 692-93, 828. It took between three and four minutes to handcuff Mr. Zamora. RP 376. Officers used a rope to hog tie him. RP 637. While he was being hog-tied Mr. Zamora landed one kick to an officer who said it did not hurt him. RP 650.

Another officer activated his body camera after Mr. Zamora was hogtied, and officers could be heard calling him a "turd." RP 680. A search of Mr. Zamora's jacket yielded a pockeknife. RP 711, 741.

5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Officers testifie they used the tasers in 'drive stun.' Drive stun is the use of a taser without probes: it emits an arc that causes more pain. Rp 377, 632, 691-92.

Handcuffed, hog-tied and face down in the snow Mr. Zamora stopped breathing. RP 676, 680-81.

A witness, who observed the events unfold in his front yard, testified that Mr. Zamora did not resist or fight the officer. Rather, Hake put his hands on Mr. Zamora and threw him to the ground. RP 826. When the other officers arrived he saw them kick, punch, and elbow Mr. Zamora as he lay face down in the snow. RP 826. He heard Mr. Zamora say, "I can't breathe" and "you're choking me." RP 836. He saw an officer using a chokehold on Mr. Zamora *after* he had been hog-tied. RP 839.

Paramedics arrived to find Mr. Zamora still hog tied, with officers holding him face down in the snow. RP 843-44. The EMT administered defibrillations to restart his heart two times. RP 847. Comatose, Mr. Zamora was transported to a hospital. He remained comatose and was moved by Life Flight to a Spokane hospital. RP 847-50. Photos on the first or second day of his hospital stay in ICU showed him with facial bruising, a feeding tube and an intubated ventilator. Exh. 14; RP 782, 784. A second photo taken a month later showed him in a hospital bed with bruising on his body and a trach. Exh. 15.

Mr. Zamora tested positive for methamphetamines and THC. RP 585, 598. The physician testified the half-life for meth is 12 hours, which

meant methamphetamine ingested within a three-day window would qualitatively show positive but was not quantified<sup>3</sup>. RP 574, 612-14.

The Investigation: Washington State Patrol investigated the charges of assault in the third degree brought against Mr. Zamora. RP 734-42. None of the officers prepared a police report, but, were instructed from an unnamed higher ranked person to prepare a *Garrity* statement. <sup>4</sup> No officer involved in the incident sat down for an interview with the WSP investigator. RP 233.

<u>Pre-Trial Motions</u>: Before trial, the State moved to bar reference to the internal investigation into the officers' conduct. CP 164; RP 330. It wanted the statements the officers made regarding the investigation to be called "statements recorded about the incident." CP 164. Defense counsel objected as the officer information about the events was found only in the *Garrity* statements. RP 233, 325.

The court denied the defense motion to question the officers (1) if they made a *Garrity* statement; (2) whether they knew what a *Garrity* 

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Mr. Zamora remembered smoking meth two or three days earlier but did not remember if he had smoked any on the day of the beating. RP 738.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> A *Garrity* statement is a statement made by a public employee during an internal investigation. The Fifth Amendment prohibits the government from using the self-incriminating statements made by a public employee under threat of termination in a subsequent criminal prosecution. *Garrity v., New Jersey,* 385 U.S. 493, 499-500, 87 S.Ct. 616, 17 L.Ed.2d 562 (1967).

statement was; (3) what their understanding was of the reason for making a *Garrity* statement; (4) who told them to make the statement; (5) whether the officers made themselves available for interview by the WSP for purposes of investigating the case against Mr. Zamora. RP 401-02, 419-20. The court found the statements inadmissible, the questions irrelevant, and a waste of time. RP 340, 433-34.

Without defense objection, the court granted a state motion to exclude evidence of any prior violent confrontations involving Hake and other citizens. CP 90. Without defense objection, the court also granted a state motion that no evidence of what led to Hake's resignation from the police force would be admitted. RP 12, 30.

Voir Dire: The prosecutor began voir dire:

...let's just take a general topic that seems to be in the media every day, and I'll ask you a general question, and that is some people say today in our society we have - - we don't have enough border security. Some people say we have too much or we don't need that. So, the question is which one do you feel like you're closer to? RP 71-72.

When a juror stated he believed immigration was an "opportunity for a lot of great people to come to our country," the prosecutor answered:

Sorry for this, and I don't mean to get off on a jag, could you make room for the possibility that someone who – a loved one or family member of somebody who was either killed or had problems with somebody that's been previously deported or criminally is wrong in the country, that that happens to them, and that they feel like we need more border security, can you make room for that?

RP 75.

At another point, he said:

Can you make room for the idea that when they hear that 100,000 people come across illegally a month, and of those we've got people from countries that - - countries on our list that aren't even allowed in the country are part of that group?

RP 77.

The prosecutor referenced and questioned potential jurors about illegal immigration and undocumented immigrants no less than 10 times. RP 74-105,160. The following day the court expressed its concern that defense counsel had not objected to the State's questions. RP 221. The court raised evidence rule 413, cited numerous cases and said it was concerned a jury would:

...think that with a Latino last name that he's here illegally? Why else would the questions be asked? Why else would there be reference to drug busts in Nogales, a number of illegal immigrants crossing over the border, 100,000 a month, unless he was, why else would the questions be relevant? That's what the jury might think. RP 223.

The prosecutor said he asked the questions because border security was a hot topic and he was curious about it. RP 225. He said he was troubled by "this overarching complete political correctness about what people have to say and concerns, and I understand that. But it is a major concern that's imposed on Grant County as well. It's a significant

problem. I'll be careful about any of that." RP 226. During opening statements, defense counsel said Mr. Zamora was a U.S. citizen. RP 265.

Mr. Zamora raised a defense of self-defense. (2/20/19 RP 6). A jury found him guilty, and he gave notice of appeal. CP 333-35. The Court of Appeals affirmed the convictions while acknowledging the case was one "in which a citizen's mistaken report of vehicle prowling almost resulted in the death of an individual who, until seized by a police officer was guilty of nothing more than walking while high on drugs." Op. at 33,36.

#### V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. The State Violated Mr. Zamora's Constitutional Right To An Impartial Jury Requiring Reversal.

A prosecutor violates a defendant's Washington State Constitution Article 1, §22 right to an impartial jury when he resorts to racist argument and appeals to racial stereotypes or racial bias to achieve convictions.

State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 676, 257 P.3d 551 (2011). Washington Courts condemn the injection of racial or ethnic stereotypes into criminal cases. State v. Barber, 118 Wn.2d 335, 346-47, 823 P.2d 1068 (1992).

Where a defendant fails to object to alleged prosecutorial misconduct, the appellate court determines whether the comments are flagrant and ill-intentioned to determine whether reversal is required. *In re* 

Pers. Restraint of Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d 696, 286 P.3d 673 (2012). This Court analyzed prosecutorial misconduct in State v. Loughbon, 196 Wn.2d 64, 470 P.3d 499 (2020). There, the Court was less concerned about the subjective aspect of flagrant and ill-intentioned comments, and more focused on whether the jury would draw improper inferences from the evidence based on the comments.

In *Loughbom*, the State asked whether potential jurors believed there was a drug problem in the county, and then referenced the "war on drugs" in opening and closing arguments. The Court held the appeal to a war on drugs influenced the jury because it was designed to arouse passion and prejudice and to inflame the juror's emotions. The prosecution's framing of the prosecution as a drug problem and a war on drugs created a thematic narrative prism through which the jury should view the evidence. *Id.* at 76-77.

Here, the narrative introduced by the prosecutor was border security: undocumented immigrants committing crimes and burglaries in Grant County neighborhoods. It moved on to the prosecutor referencing a Fentanyl operation in Nogales that "would have killed 65 million Americans." RP 145.

The Court of Appeals acknowledged "the border security and illegal immigration ...questioning was irrelevant and unnecessarily

politicized it." Op. at 33. However, it excused the conduct pointing out defense counsel *could* have objected to the questioning and the trial court would have been well within its authority to instruct the prosecutor the topics were off-limits. Op. at 34. Instructing the prosecutor not to inject racially biased questions does not change the influence it had already had on the jury. Under *Loughbom*, the analysis used by the Court of Appeals and its conclusion are incorrect. The issue is whether Mr. Zamora's right to an impartial jury was violated by the State.

Under *In re Gentry*, 170 Wn.2d 614, 316 P3d 1020 (2014), *the burden is on the State* to show race-based misconduct was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Here, the prosecutor intentionally returned to the theme of illegal immigration and the fear of the possibility of crimes by undocumented immigrants coming from the Southern border no less than 10 times. "When a prosecutor flagrantly or apparently intentionally appeals to racial bias in a way that undermines the defendant's credibility or the presumption of innocence" the Court will vacate the conviction unless it appears beyond a reasonable doubt that the misconduct did not affect the jury's verdict." *State v. Monday*, 17 Wn.2d at 680.

This Court should accept review because the ruling by the Court of Appeals conflicts with a ruling by this Court. The repeated questioning based on racial bias and stereotypes violated and undermined Mr.

Zamora's right to an impartial jury and the burden lies with the State to prove otherwise.

B. As A Matter Of First Impression, Mr. Zamora's Constitutional Right To Present A Full And Complete Defense Was Violated Where The Trial Court Denied Him The Opportunity To Cross Examine Police Witnesses On The Circumstances Of Their *Garrity* Statements.

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