FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/4/2021 9:31 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 999597

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

### JOSEPH MARIO ZAMORA,

Petitioner.

### RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

GARTH DANO
PROSECUTING ATTORNEY

Kevin J. McCrae – WSBA #43087 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

PO BOX 37 EPHRATA WA 98823 (509)754-2011

##

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

#### E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DECLINED.

1. The prosecutor did not improperly raise immigration issues, and defense counsel waived any argument on this issue.

One of the purposes of voir dire, is for parties to gain knowledge that would "enable an intelligent exercise of preemptory challenges." CrR 6.4(b). Additionally, during voir dire parties may question prospective jurors on anything that touches their qualifications, "subject to the supervision of the court as appropriate to the facts of the case." *Id.* In this case the obvious defense strategy was to engender sympathy for the defendant by pointing to his injuries inflicted during the fight with the police. Immigration is another area of law where people often have sympathies that are supportive of those violating the law. By raising an analogues topic to an issue in the case during voir dire the prosecutor attempted to gain information to exercise preemptory challenges. The prosecutor did not inject race into the case, nor did he call upon the jury to fix a social problem. This case was about a person who assaulted an officer, and in the ensuing fight was gravely injured and almost died. This is obviously a touchy topic. The defense was to place the officer on trial. This was going to be an emotional case. Seeing how people felt about law enforcement in a potentially emotionally charged subject was clearly important information for both sides in this case. The prosecutor's

comment about a drug bust in Nogales, RP 139–40, occurred in voir dire in the context of a discussion on drugs, which defense counsel originally brought up. RP 136–41. As the case involved an issue of the defendant being under the influence of drugs, *see* RP 136, defense counsel and the prosecutor were well within CrR 6.4(b) in addressing the topic. Notably, this trial occurred before the death of George Floyd, the aftermath of which only emphasizes the need to discuss with jurors sensitive topics and obtain their feelings and opinions on these types of issues prior to a trial of this kind.

In *State v. Loughbom*, 196 Wn.2d 64, 70, 470 P.3d 499, 503 (2020), the prosecutor invoked the war on drugs once in voir dire, and then in opening and twice in closing argument, describing the trial as a battle in the war on drugs. The Court concluded this was misconduct, focusing on the statements made in trial, not in voir dire. The Court held that exhortations to address a societal problem with a guilty verdict were improper.

None of the things that the Court found wrong in *Loughbom* occurred in this case. While the prosecutor brought up a politically sensitive topic in voir dire, there is nothing that can be found that can be construed as an exhortation to fix the problem with their verdict. There was no mention of immigration during the trial except in defense

counsel's opening statement, where he informed the jury, without objection, that his client was a U.S. Citizen, and therefore immigration was not an issue in the case. *Loughbom* is simply not on point to this case; thus there is no conflict.

Trial Defense Counsel did not see this discussion as a problem. When specifically asked he felt it might be harmful to the State, if anything. He also discussed the issue among the public defenders in his office. When a potential error is brought to defense counsel's attention, and he expressly chooses not to seek a remedy for it, appellate review is barred, absent a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. *State v. Hernandez*, 6 Wn. App. 2d 422, 427, 431 P.3d 126, 130 (2018). Mr. Zamora did more than sit silent during this discussion, he affirmatively assented to it. He cannot complain of it now.

Mr. Zamora was not denied a fair and impartial jury by voir dire questions related to feelings about law enforcement and their interactions with people who may arouse sympathy. He also does not show any alleged misconduct could not have been cured by a timely objection. Nor does he show a conflict with a State Supreme Court case. There is no basis to grant review on this issue.

# 2. The trial court properly did not allow the defendant to question officers about the nature of their *Garrity* statements.

Mr. Zamora makes the following logical proposition. The officers' statements given prior to trial were given under the protections of Garrity v. New Jersey, 385 U.S. 493, 87 S. Ct. 616, 17 L. Ed. 2d 562 (1967), therefore their statements at trial were less credible. What he does not do is explain why this was so. The officers could not be prosecuted based on what they said in their statements during the investigation. They could be prosecuted based on what they said at trial. Given the Garrity statements were admissible as prior inconsistent statements if the testimony supported application of that rule, and defense counsel did not raise any inconsistencies, then it must be presumed there were no material inconsistencies between the Garrity statements and the testimony at trial. Nor does the argument that their careers were at stake make sense. An officer's career is at stake every time he testifies. A perjury conviction would surely end the officer's career. The logical proposition Mr. Zamora attempts to make simply does not follow.

Garrity is based on the Fifth Amendment right not to incriminate one's self. It allows a public employer to demand statements from an employee for employment purposes without running afoul of the Fifth Amendment right to not incriminate one's self in a criminal case. The

claiming of the Fifth Amendment privilege is not evidence, and the jury is not allowed to draw inferences from it. *State v. Smith*, 74 Wn.2d 744, 757, 446 P.2d 571, 580 (1968), *vacated in part*, 408 U.S. 934, 92 S. Ct. 2852, 33 L. Ed. 2d 747 (1972), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Gosby*, 85 Wn.2d 758, 539 P.2d 680 (1975). It would be improper for the jury to draw any inference from the Officer's use of the *Garrity* right. "It is well settled that the jury is not entitled to draw any inferences from the decision of a witness to exercise his constitutional privilege whether those inferences be favorable to the prosecution or the defense." *Bowles v. United States*, 439 F.2d 536, 541 (D.C. Cir. 1970). There is no evidence in the record as to whether the officers insisted on *Garrity* or the warnings were given based on the decision of the investigator. Allowing any inferences to be drawn from this would be error.

In any event, even if there is some marginal relevance, the discussion of *Garrity* would clearly be unduly prejudicial for a very limited probative value, in violation of ER 403. By informing the jury there had been an internal investigation, without letting them know the result, the jury would be left to speculate as to the outcome, especially since Kevin Hake was no longer a police officer. The jury could have been told about the outcome of the use of force investigation to minimize this prejudice, but that would risk invading the province of the jury to

decide the case on the facts before them, not on the basis of a different investigation. Even assuming the information about the internal investigation was marginally relevant, its potential for unfair prejudice drastically outweighed its minimal probative value. "The Constitution permits judges to exclude evidence that is 'repetitive ... only marginally relevant' or poses an undue risk of 'harassment, prejudice, [or] confusion of the issues." *State v. Orn*, 197 Wn.2d 343, 352, 482 P.3d 913, 919 (2021).

Nor does the Court of Appeals decision conflict with *Orn*. In *Orn* the witness was a confidential informant. The only question the defense was permitted to ask was whether the witness had worked with the police department, without giving details. In this case the witnesses were sworn officers with a clear, undisputable relationship with the department. Their relationship with the department was unambiguous, and free to be explored, if defense counsel thought it necessary. The only fact that was concealed was there had been an internal investigation of this incident. The internal investigation found no wrongdoing. The officers did not make any deals, as the witness in *Orn* did. This case is simply not the same as *Orn*.

Even if the Court somehow erred, the error was not prejudicial.

The officers testified in the same way they testified in their internal affairs

investigation. This would simply would not negatively affect the jury's perception of their credibility. Any error was harmless, and there is no basis for review on this issue.

3. For the first time in his petition for review Mr. Zamora seeks a new rule that if a defendant is entitled to a self-defense instruction, suppression is available for an assault of an officer that follows an unlawful stop.

The new rule Mr. Zamora advocates for is nonsensical, and would allow suppression based on the slimmest of evidence. Evidence of assault after an illegal stop is not suppressible for good public policy reasons, as it would immunize people who assault an officer who may be doing their job in good faith, but fall afoul of extremely nuanced search and seizure rules. See State v. Valentine, 132 Wn.2d 1, 10, 935 P.2d 1294, 1298 (1997). Indeed, given there is no good faith exception to the warrant requirement in Washington, even an officer who was obeying the law as everyone thought it was at the time could be subject to assault without the protection of the law if the Courts elect to implement a post facto change in the law.

Mr. Zamora argues all one would have to do to obtain suppression is allege self-defense and show enough evidence to get an instruction. But the standard for obtaining a self-defense instruction is low. All the defendant has to do is present some evidence of self-defense, which is

evaluated in the light most favorable to the defendant. The evidence need not even create a reasonable doubt. *State v. George*, 161 Wn. App. 86, 96, 249 P.3d 202, 207 (2011). Because the evidence is taken in the light most favorable to the defendant even the most non-credible evidence may obtain a self-defense instruction.

Once there is sufficient evidence to obtain a self-defense, instruction the burden shifts to the State to disprove self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Graves, 97 Wn. App. 55, 61, 982 P.2d 627, 631 (1999). The burden on a suppression motion is generally preponderance of evidence. E.g. State v. Ferguson, 131 Wn. App. 694, 704, 128 P.3d 1271, 1275 (2006). Under Mr. Zamora's rule the defendant could obtain suppression of the assault simply be alleging self-defense, no matter how non-credible that claim was. He would shift the burden on a suppression motion to a some evidence standard. On the other hand, if the defendant meets or even gets close to meeting the burden of preponderance of evidence of a self-defense claim, then by definition the State does not meet its beyond a reasonable doubt burden, and the defendant wins at trial anyways. Mr. Zamora does not provide any rationale to support that sufficiency to obtain a self-defense instruction should be sufficient to suppress the evidence, nor does he propose a way to resolve this evidentiary quandary with his new rule.

Nor does the fact that Mr. Zamora was seriously injured justify his actions. He was high on methamphetamine, had an unfolded knife in his pocket he was reaching for, and fought with Officer Hake, where if he had cooperated none of this horrible incident would have happened. Mr. Zamora argued that the consequences of losing the fight justifies the actions in starting it. Mr. Zamora's proposed new rule is unworkable and would defeat the purpose of the exception to the exclusionary rule that now exists. Review should not be granted on these grounds.

In addition, the stop was a lawful *Terry* stop. "[T]here must be a narrowly drawn authority to permit a reasonable search for weapons for the protection of the police officer, where he has reason to believe that he is dealing with an armed and dangerous individual, regardless of whether he has probable cause to arrest the individual for a crime." *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 27, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 1883, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968). "[C]ourts are reluctant to substitute their judgment for that of police officers in the field. A founded suspicion is all that is necessary, some basis from which the court can determine that the [frisk] was not arbitrary or harassing." *State v. Collins*, 121 Wn.2d 168, 173, 847 P.2d 919 (1993).

Here Officer Hake observed the defendant "stare though him," exhibit symptoms that gave an appearance of being under the influence of an intoxicant, refuse to respond to him and reach into his pocket as if he

was reaching for a weapon. The encounter was at night on icy, slippery ground. Officer Hake was the only officer present. Given Mr. Zamora's state, simply turning and walking away was not a safe option for Officer Hake. A frisk for weapons was appropriate under the totality of the circumstances.

# 4. Mr. Zamora's counsel was not ineffective for understanding and following the rules of evidence.

Trial Counsel correctly acknowledged that Officer Hake's prior assault four and disorderly conduct charges where irrelevant unless Mr. Zamora knew of them prior to the fight. Mr. Zamora now claims that they should have been offered to show that Officer Hake acted in conformity with what he assumes was the facts of the charge. When the record is insufficient to show ineffective assistance of counsel the remedy is to bring the claim in a personal restraint petition. *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 338, 899 P.2d 1251, 1258 (1995), *as amended* (Sept. 13, 1995).

Here the record details that Officer Hake faced charges of assault in the fourth degree and disorderly conduct by way of fighting words. RP 12. It does not reveal the detailed facts behind the charges. A person is guilty of assault in the fourth degree when he assaults another. RCW 9A.36.041. A person can assault another by actually causing a harmful or

offensive contact, attempting to cause a harmful or offensive contact, or taking actions that put the victim in fear of immediately being subject to a harmful or offensive contact. WPIC 35.50. Based on this record there is simply no way to know how close Officer Hake's behavior in that case was to his behavior in this case. It may be he was guilty of boorish behavior at a bar, slapping someone on the backside that lead to aggressive words. On this record we can only speculate. Mr. Zamora presumes it was some sort of major physical fight similar to the altercation with Mr. Zamora. The record does not support such an assumption.

Nor does the case Mr. Zamora cites support his proposition. State v. York, 28 Wn. App. 33, 34, 621 P.2d 784, 785 (1980), was a case about dishonest acts in an officer's past. The Court cited ER 608 and stated "The trial court, in its exercise of discretion, appears to have found the proffered testimony not to have been probative of truthfulness or untruthfulness. We must therefore question whether the trial court abused its discretion." *Id.* at 786. The appellate court did find the evidence was probative of truthfulness, therefore it should have been admitted.

Mr. Zamora does not, and cannot, assert that conduct that lead to charges of assault four and disorderly conduct would be probative of truthfulness. There is no evidence in the record that the event involved dishonesty on Officer Hake's part. Thus, ER 608 and *York* are

inapplicable to this issue. Instead, Mr. Zamora argues that it should be admitted to show that Officer Hake acted in conformity with a prior violent event. This type of evidence is controlled by ER 404(b). "Evidence of other crimes, wrongs or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith." While there are innumerable exceptions to ER 404(b), Mr. Zamora does not show any of them apply or that trial counsel should have argued any of them. Trial Counsel did raise one exception, to show reasonable fear of a person asserting self-defense when that person knew of the prior violent event. However, he correctly rejected that exception because the evidence would not support it.

A prior assault by Officer Hake would be inadmissible under ER 404(b). *York* concerns prior acts of dishonesty under ER 608. This is an apples and oranges comparison trial counsel was correct not to make. In addition, assuming ER 404(b) does not apply, the record is insufficient to conclude whether the prior conduct was sufficiently similar to the current conduct to be useful to the jury. Counsel was not ineffective in failing to object, and there is no showing the outcome would have been different if this evidence had been admitted. There is no basis to grant review on this issue.

//

### 5. There is no basis to grant review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b).

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